
Summons to Meeting

Thursday 17 May 2018

Development Panel
Tuesday 29 May 2018, 1.00 pm

Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington
Membership:

Councillor Peter Bales (Chair) Councillor Billy Miskelly (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor Janet Farebrother
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Mark Jenkinson
Councillor Ron Munby Councillor Jim Osborn
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor David Wilson

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Dean Devine on 01900 702502.

Site visit  
The following site visit will take place:

2/2018/0034 - The Old Tan Yard, Laurel Terrace, Wigton - Application for change of 
use from B1 light industrial use to D1 nursery use class and erection of single storey 
extension

Members of the Development Panel will be picked up from Allerdale House, 
Workington. The bus will leave at 10.20 am.

Agenda
1. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 18)

To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 1 May 2018.

2. Apologies for Absence  

Page 1



3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Questions  
To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 working days before the 
meeting.

5. 2/2018/0034 - The Old Tan Yard, Laurel Terrace, Wigton - Application for 
change of use from B1 light industrial use to D1 nursery use class and 
erection of single storey extension  (Pages 19 - 30)
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=1
76067

6. 2/2018/0024 - 129, John Street, Workington - Demolish existing flat roof 
extension, sub-divide existing domestic accommodation and carry out 
alterations and change use of former club premises to provide self 
contained apartments  (Pages 31 - 40)
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=1
75330

7. 2/2018/0101 - Welton Primary School, Welton, Carlisle - Outline application 
for the erection of 14 dwellings including 4 affordable properties and 
approved of access and layout  (Pages 41 - 54)
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=1
80037

Monitoring Officer

Date of Next Meeting:

Tuesday 26 June 2018, 1.00 pm
Allerdale House, Workington

Page 2

http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=176067
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=176067
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=175330
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=175330
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=180037
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=180037


At a meeting of the Development Panel held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, 
Workington on Tuesday 1 May 2018 at 1.00 pm

Members

Councillor Billy Miskelly (Chair) Councillor Peter Bales (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor Janet Farebrother
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Mark Jenkinson
Councillor Ron Munby Councillor Jim Osborn
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor David Wilson

Staff Present

B Carlin, D Devine, K Kerrigan, S Long and A Seekings

Also Present

A Pitcher – Ward Councillor

430. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 3 April 2018 were signed as a correct 
record.

431. Declaration of Interests 

None declared.

432. Questions 

None received.

433. 2/2017/0587 - Former Hopes Auction Mart, 93 High Street, Wigton - 
Residential development for 110 dwellings 

Representations

Philip Hayward, Deborah Hayward, Pauline Bewley, Anne Jackson, Sandra 
Hodson and Don Cooper spoke in objection to the application.

Mave Tyas spoke in support of the application.

Councillor Alan Pitcher spoke in support of the application as Ward Councillor.

Phil Jones spoke in support of the application as the agent.

Application

The Principal Planning Officer recommended approval.

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



The Principal Planning Officer drew members attention to additional objections 
received as outlined on the ‘late list’. The Principal Planning Officer outlined 
further representations received following the preparation of the late list which 
made reference to issues relating to the amended plans which reduced the 
length of the wall to be reduced in height, issues with the notification provided to 
objectors of the Development Panel meeting, reference to a water pipe crossing 
the site and inaccuracies in the submitted plan. 

The Principal Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main 
issues within the report as follows:

 Principle of development

The scale of development proposed for this site in the Key Service 
Centre of Wigton Policy S5 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (ALPP1) 
states that new development will be concentrated within the physical 
limits of the Key Service Centre. The proposed development site lies 
outside of, but directly adjacent to, the defined settlement limit for 
Wigton.

Notwithstanding the adoption of the ALPP1 and the spatial strategy 
contained therein, the defined limits for individual settlements continue to 
be derived from the Allerdale Local Plan 1999. The LPA is currently in 
the process of reviewing settlement limits as part of the site allocations 
process but this development plan document, Allerdale Local Plan (Part 
2), is still in the process towards adoption.

The council can demonstrate a 5-year supply of housing and therefore 
the policies for supply of housing contained within the adopted Local 
Plan are to be considered up-to-date.

Taking into account the age of the current defined settlement limits and 
also principles of sustainable development set out within the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), officers consider that an element of 
flexibility must be applied when considering proposals for development 
that lie outside of them and this proactive approach to meeting the 
overall housing requirement for Allerdale has previously been accepted 
by the Development Panel as appropriate. Given the scale of 
development proposed and the proximity and relationship of the site to 
the current defined settlement and proposed site allocation officers 
consider the principle of residential development to be acceptable at this 
location.

It is considered that the principle of development is acceptable and 
complies with the provisions of Policies S2, S3, S5 and DM16 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).

 Impact on highway network

No objections are raised by the local highway authority in relation to the 
proposed access arrangements for the site or the impact of the proposed 
development on the local highway network.

Page 4



The Highways Authority has requested a number of conditions be 
attached to provide adequate infrastructure and ensure a safe walking 
route is provided.

Officers conclude that the proposed development would not have a 
significant adverse impact on the local highway network and therefore is 
compliant with the provisions of Policies S2, S5 and S22 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1).

 Parking

The Highways Authority has not objected to the level of parking 
provision, officers consider the proposal meets an adequate level of 
parking given its town centre location.

 Affordable housing

The proposed outline scheme would see 22 affordable units which 
represent 20% of the scheme. Although the low cost home ownership 
properties do not meet the specific need on balance with the delivery of a 
significant number of bungalows it is considered that the level and type of 
affordable properties is acceptable. Officers consider this is in line with 
the provisions of Policy S8 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).

 Landscape and visual impact

Officers consider that although the proposal may result in changes to the 
immediate landscape, the development when viewed from long range 
views would be seen in the context of the neighbouring existing built 
development of Wigton.

Officers conclude that the proposed development would not have a 
significant adverse impact on landscape character and visual amenity 
and therefore is compliant with the provisions of Policies S32 and S33 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).

 Trees and hedgerows

Officers conclude that a proposed layout is achieved that safeguards, 
where possible, existing trees and hedgerows that contribute positively to 
the character of the local area and provide ecological value in 
compliance with the provisions of Policies S33, S35, and DM17 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).

 Ecology

Officers have considered the standing advice provided by Natural 
England for protected species. Based on the information and guidance 
contained therein, officers consider that the proposed development 
would not cause significant harm to protected species that may roost, 
forage or commute within the site.

Page 5



Officers conclude that the proposed development would not have a 
significant adverse impact on ecology and therefore is compliant with the 
provisions of Policies S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).

 Flood risk and drainage

The applicant has commissioned a Flood Risk Assessment that 
concludes the proposal will not result in any Flood Risk to the site or 
properties within the locality.

United Utilities have assessed the proposal and consider the proposal to 
be acceptable subject to conditions.

Officers conclude that the proposed development would not be liable to a 
high risk of flooding, or exacerbate flood risk elsewhere and the 
development is therefore compliant with the provisions of Policies S2 and 
S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).

 Heritage assets

The proposal is not considered to have any significant detrimental effect 
on the Conservation area, or nearby listed buildings. Although there is 
the potential for archaeological remains on site a condition can ensure 
these are examined and recorded prior to the commencement of 
development.

 Residential amenity

The proposal will have some impact on existing properties; however, the 
effects of the development of the amenities of the occupiers of these 
properties are not considered to be significant.

The resulting impacts would not be significantly harmful in terms of 
overlooking, overshadowing, over-dominance or loss of privacy. The 
proposal is considered to be acceptable in accordance with policies S32 
of the ALPP1.

 Design and appearance

The site is located within the conservation area, adjacent to traditional 
properties within the town and separated from a modern housing estate 
by playing fields. It is also adjacent to the eastern and northern 
boundaries of Nelson Thomlinson School. The design of the properties 
and layout is considered to be acceptable and is in the form of the 
standard house types of the developer that are utilised on a cross-
regional basis. However, some of the units have been adapted to 
incorporate bespoke external detailing. These units would incorporate 
detailing such as stone and render elevations.

Page 6



Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. Members also noted the 
additional consultations received since the preparation of the officer’s report.

Councillor J Farebrother moved that the application be deferred until further 
advice and information was sought on emergency access arrangements, the 
number of school places available in the area, the proposed play area and 
pavements (due to concerns around highway safety). This was seconded by 
Councillor D Wilson.

A vote was taken on the motion. 2 voted in favour of deferral and 10 against. 
The motion in favour of deferral was lost.

Councillor P Bales moved that the application be approved as per the officer’s 
recommendation, with the addition of a condition to ensure the diversion of the 
existing surface water drains and water supply to Longmoor House and an 
amendment to condition 24 to include reference to the new access to the 
Wigton Baths. This was seconded by Councillor B Pegram.

A vote was taken on the motion. 9 voted in favour of approval, 2 against and 
there was 1 abstention. The motion in favour of approval was carried.

Decision

Approved

Conditions

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 
accordance with the following plans:
WIG-PHS-XX-00-DR-A00-001 Rev P2 - Site Location Plan
1060-01 - Landscape Strategy plan
4060 SK001 001 - General access arrangement plan
4060 SK001 002 - Proposed access arrangement plan-engineering plan
4060 SK001 007 Swept Path Analysis plan
No 4060 SK001 008 Visibility Splays - Amended Drawing received 16 
February 2018
WIG-PHS-XX-00-DR-A-00-100 Rev P5 - Proposed Masterplan - 
Amended Drawing received 23 March 2018
WIG-PHS-XX-00-DR-A-00-101 - Rev P4 Proposed Master Plan - Hard 
Landscaping - Amended Drawing received 23 March 2018
WIG-PHS-XX-00-DR-A-00-102 Rev P1 - Proposed Master Plan - 
Landscaping Plan
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-20-005 Rev P3 - HT01- 2B3P Bungalow (61sqm) 
Elevations

Page 7



WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-22-105 Rev P2 - HT01- 2B3P Bungalow (61sqm) 
Ground Floor and Roof Plan
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-22-122 Rev P1 - HT01A - 2B3P Bungalow 
(61sqm) Ground Floor and Roof Plan- Amended Drawing received 23 
March 2018
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-22-022 Rev P1 - HT01A - 2B3P Bungalow 
(61sqm) Elevations- Amended Drawing received 23 March 2018
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-20-006 Rev P3 - HT02- 2B4P Bungalow (70sqm) 
Elevations
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-22-106 Rev P3 - HT02- 2B4P Bungalow (70sqm) 
Ground Floor and Roof Plan 
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-20-023 Rev P1- HT02A - 2B4P Bungalow 
(70sqm) Elevations- Amended Drawing received 23 March 2018
WIG-PHS-ZZ-DR-A-22-123 Rev P1 - HT02A - 2B4P Bungalow (70sqm) 
Ground Floor and Roof Plan - Amended Drawing received 23 March 
2018
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-20-007 Rev P3 - HT03- 3B5P Bungalow (86sqm) 
Elevations
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-22-107Rev P3 - HT03- 3B5P Bungalow (86sqm) 
Ground Floor and Roof Plan
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-22-124 Rev P1- HT03A - 3B5P Bungalow 
(86sqm) Ground Floor and Roof Plan- Amended Drawing received 23 
March 2018
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-20-024 - Rev P1 - HT03A - 3B Bungalow 
(86sqm) Elevations- Amended Drawing received 23 March 2018
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-20-008 Rev P3 - HT04- 2B4P House (79sqm) 
Elevations
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-22-108 Rev P3 - HT04- 2B4P House (79sqm) 
Ground First and Roof Plan
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-20-009 Rev P3 - HT05- 2B4P House (79sqm) 
Elevations
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-22-109 Rev P3 - HT05- 2B4P House (79sqm) 
Ground First and Roof Plan
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-20-010 Rev P3 - HT06- 3B5P House (93sqm) 
Elevations
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-22-110 Rev P3 - HT06- 3B5P House (93sqm) 
Ground First and Roof Plan
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-20-018 Rev P3- HT06 A- 3B5P House (93sqm) 
Elevations
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-22-118 Rev P3 - HT06 A- 3B5P House (93sqm) 
Ground First and Roof Plan
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-20-011 Rev P5 - HT07- 3B5P House (93sqm) 
Elevations - Amended Drawing received 23 March 2018
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-22-111 Rev P3 - HT07- 3B5P House (93sqm) 
Ground First and Roof Plan
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-20-019 Rev P3 - HT07 A- 3B5P House (93sqm) 
Elevations
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-22-119 Rev P3 - HT07 A - 3B5P House (93sqm) 
Ground First and Roof Plan
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-20-012 Rev P3 - HT08 - 3B5P House SL 
(93sqm) Elevations

Page 8



WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-22-112 Rev P3 - HT08- 3B5P House SL (93sqm) 
Ground First and Roof Plan
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-20-014 Rev P3 - HT10- 4B7P House (115sqm) 
Elevation
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-22-114 Rev P3 - HT10- 4B7P House (115sqm) 
Ground First and Roof Plan
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-20-015 Rev P7 - HT11 - 4B7P House (136sqm) 
Elevations- Amended Drawing received 23 March 2018
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-22-115 Rev P3 - HT11- 4B7P House (136sqm) 
Ground First and Roof Plan
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-20-016 Rev P3 - HT12- 4B7P House (115sqm) 
Elevations
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-22-116 Rev P3 - HT12- 4B7P House (115sqm) 
Ground First and Roof Plan
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-20-021 Rev P3 - HT12 A- 4B7P House (115sqm) 
Elevations
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-22-121Rev P3 - HT12 A - 4B7P House (115sqm) 
Ground First and Roof Plan
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-20-017 Rev P3 - GR01-Single Garage
WIG-PHS-XX-ZZ-DR-A-22-117 Rev P3 - GR01-Single Garage
WIG-PHS-XX-00-DR-A-00-102 Rev  P1 - Proposed Master Plan - 
Landscaping Plan
WIG-PHS-XX-00-DR-A-21-201 Rev P1 - Site Sections Proposed and 
Existing
Framework Residential Travel - Plan 4 December 2017- Version 1.0
Transport Assessment dated 5 December 2017 Version 2
Flood Risk Assessment - Revision D -  2017051 - January 2018
Flood Risk Assessment Appendix I - Surface Water Maintenance 
Schedule
Geoenvironmental Appraisal Dunelm report reference 8124 dated 
23/6/17 and D8124/2 dated 7/8/17
Ecology Report  Final
OP-Hopes Auction Mart-17/TRE07v1Tree Report 04-12-17 Final Rev4 
Dated March 2016 
2017051 SK06 Rev A – Works to existing stone wall – Amended plan 
received 12 April 2018

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in 
complete accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-
material alterations to the scheme are properly considered.

3. Prior to the commencement of works, a phasing plan showing the 
sequencing of the development for managing the construction and 
restoration works shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be implemented 
solely in accordance with the approved scheme or as subsequently 
amended by written agreement with the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To serve in the public and visual interests a satisfactory 
correlated order of development, in accordance with Policies S5 and 
DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted July 2014.

Page 9



4. The carriageway, footways and footpaths shall be designed, drained and 
lit to a standard suitable for adoption and in this respect further details, 
including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval before any part of the development 
hereby permitted is commenced. No work shall be commenced until a full 
specification has been approved. These details shall be in accordance 
with the standards laid down in the current Cumbria Design Guide. Any 
works so approved shall be constructed before the development is 
completed.

Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction within the 
approved development in the interests of highway safety.

5. The development shall not commence until visibility splays providing 
clear as shown on drawing no 4060 SK001 001 - General access 
arrangement plan, 4060 SK001 002 - Proposed access arrangement 
plan-engineering plan and No 4060 SK001 008 Visibility Splays - 
Amended Drawing received 16 February 2018 and 2017051 SK06 Rev A 
- Works to existing stone wall - Amended plan received 12 April 2018  
down the centre of the access road and the nearside channel line of the 
major road have been provided at the junction of the access road with 
the county highway.  Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to 
permitted development, no structure, vehicle or object of any kind shall 
be erected or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants shall be 
planted or be permitted to grown within the visibility splay which exceed 1 
metre in height and obstruct the visibility splays. The visibility splays shall 
be constructed before general development of the site commences so 
that construction traffic is safeguarded.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of access for the development 
during the construction and operational use of the site, in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

6. No dwellings shall be occupied until the estate road including footways 
and cycleways to serve such dwellings has been constructed in all 
respects to base course level and street lighting where it is to form part of 
the estate road has been provided and brought into full operational use.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

7. No dwellings in the phase approved in condition 3 containing the link to 
the school shall be occupied until the Link is installed and brought into 
full operational use. Details of this link including its construction , gating 
and drainage to be agreed by the Local planning authority in consultation 
with the Local Highway Authority. 

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety

Page 10



8. No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The statement shall include the following: 
Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including site and staff traffic, off site parking, turning and 
compound areas; 
Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of 
damage from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from 
vehicles, deliveries. 
All measurements should make reference to BS7445.
Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential properties 
from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, and light 
pollution. 
A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition; 
Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction 
and demolition (including any wheel washing facilities); 
Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase; 
Hours of working and deliveries; 
Details of lighting to be used on site.
Highway signage / Haulage routes  
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of 
the development.

Reason:  In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties during the construction works of the 
development hereby approved and in the interests of highway safety , in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in the 
interests of highway safety.

9. Development shall not be begun until a Construction Method Statement 
including details of all on-site construction works, post-construction 
reinstatement, drainage, mitigation, and other restoration, together with 
details of their timetabling has been submitted to and approved by the 
local planning authority and shall include measures to secure: formation 
of the construction compound and access tracks and any areas of 
hardstanding; cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public 
highway; the sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent 
spillage or deposit of any materials on the highway; post-construction 
restoration/reinstatement of the working areas How surface water will be 
managed on site during construction The Construction Method 
Statement shall be carried out as approved. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

10.Development shall not be begun until a Construction Traffic Management 
Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The CTMP shall include details of: the construction of the site 
access and the creation, positioning and maintenance of associated 
visibility splays; access gates will be hung to open away from the public 

Page 11



highway no less than 10m from the carriageway edge and shall 
incorporate appropriate visibility displays; proposed accommodation 
works and where necessary a programme for their subsequent removal 
and the reinstatement of street furniture and verges, where required, 
along the route; the pre-construction road condition established by a 
detailed survey for accommodation works within the highways boundary 
conducted with a Highway Authority representative; details of road 
improvement, construction specification, strengthening, maintenance and 
repair commitments if necessary as a consequence of the development; 
retained areas for vehicle parking, manoeuvring, loading and unloading 
for their specific purpose during the development; the surfacing of the 
access roads from the public highway into the site shall extend for a 
minimum of 25m; the management of junctions to and crossings of the 
public highway and other public rights of way/footway; the scheduling 
and timing of movements, temporary warning signs and 
banksman/escort details.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

11.An annual report reviewing the effectiveness of the Travel Plan up to a 
period of 5 years and including any necessary amendments or measures 
shall be prepared by the developer/occupier and submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval. Any subsequent amendments or 
measures approved by the Local Planning Authority shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives.

12.Each dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied until its respective  
vehicular access, parking and turning requirements have been 
constructed in accordance with the approved plan and have been 
brought into use. The vehicular access, parking and turning provisions 
shall be retained and capable of use at all times thereafter and shall not 
be removed or altered without the prior consent of the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access, parking and turning 
provision when the development is brought into use.

13.The proposed garaging facilities hereby approved shall be retained at all 
times and shall not be used for or converted into habitable residential 
living accommodation without the written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory vehicular parking 
facilities within the application site, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

14.Should land affected by contamination identified within the desktop study 
pose unacceptable risks to human health, controlled waters or the wider 
environment, no development shall take place until a detailed 

Page 12



remediation scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must include an appraisal of 
remediation options, identification of the preferred option(s), the 
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, and a 
description and programme of the works to be undertaken including the 
verification plan.

Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising 
from any possible contamination from the development to the local 
environment in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

15.Should a remediation scheme be required under condition 14, the 
approved strategy shall be implemented and a verification report 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority,prior 
to the occupation of any dwelling house within its relevant phase under 
condition 3.

Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising 
from any possible contamination from the development to the local 
environment in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

16. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out 
the approved development that was not previously identified it must be 
reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on 
the part of the site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried 
out and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Where unacceptable risks are found remediation and 
verification schemes shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. These shall be implemented prior to the 
development (or relevant phase of development) being brought into use. 
All works shall be undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, 
particularly CLR11.

Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination 
from the development to the local environment in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014

17.Only foul drainage shall be connected to the public sewer.

Reason: To ensure a sustainable means of drainage from the site and 
minimise the risk of water pollution to the local water environment, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

18.The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried out 
in accordance with principles set out in the submitted Flood Risk 
Assessment 2017051 - Revision D -  2017051 - January 2018 which was 
prepared by Portland Consulting Engineers and the drainage/engineering 
drawings as approved under condition 2. No surface water will be 

Page 13



permitted to drain directly or indirectly into the public sewer. Any variation 
to the discharge of foul drainage shall be agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development. No 
dwelling shall be occupied within each phase under condition 3 until the 
drainage scheme for that respective phase has been fully constructed in 
accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of surface water drainage and 
minimise the risk of flooding from the development, in compliance with 
the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies S29 and S2 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

19.The approved surface water drainage scheme shall be operated, 
maintained and managed after implementation in accordance with Flood 
Risk Assessment - Revision D -  2017051 - January 2018 Appendix I - 
Surface Water Maintenance Schedule
The development shall be completed, maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of surface water drainage and 
minimise the risk of flooding from the development, in compliance with 
the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies S29 and S2 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

20.Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or in any Statutory 
Instrument revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification) no development shall take place on plots 15, 16 and 32 to 
46 as identified on drawing number 2017051-000-01 dated 14/11/17 at 
appendix H of the approved FRA (referenced 2017051 Rev D; dated 
January 2018) falling within Classes A, E and F of Part 1of Schedule 2 of 
the said Order shall be carried out without the prior written permission of 
the Local Planning Authority upon an application submitted to it. 

Reason: The Local Planning Authority wishes to retain control over any 
proposed alterations/extensions to ensure that the proposed flood relief 
box culvert is retained in perpetuity for the lifetime of the development.

21.Prior to the occupation of the first dwelling full details of all play 
equipment to be installed on the local area of play, including its siting 
shall be submitted to and approved be the Local Planning Authority.  The 
play equipment hereby approved shall be fully installed and available 
prior to the occupation of the 50th dwelling.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory level of equipment is installed in 
accordance with policies S25 and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 
1), Adopted July 2014.

22.Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling details of a management 
programme for all areas of public open space (including play equipment) 
and communal parking areas shall be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. The public open spaces and communal parking 

Page 14



areas shall upon implementation of the permission be thereafter 
maintained in accordance with the approved management programme.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory provision of open space in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies 
S2, S4, S24, S25, S26 and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014.

23.A management plan, including management responsibilities and 
maintenance schedules for all private roads, parking courts and parking 
bays that will not form part of the adopted highway (including the bollards 
on the emergency access road), shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of any 
dwellinghouse hereby approved. The development shall thereafter be 
maintained at all times in accordance with the approved management 
plan.

Reason: To ensure the long term maintenance and management of 
unadopted roads and parking areas within the residential estate.

24.All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the scheme and shown 
on the landscaping plans approved under condition 2 shall be carried out 
in the first planting season following completion of the development and 
any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion 
of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with other similar 
size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and 
minimise the impact of the development in the locality, in compliance with 
Policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

25.A landscaping management plan including long term design objectives, 
management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all 
landscape areas including public open space and landscaped buffers 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the occupation of any dwellinghouse hereby approved. 
The development shall thereafter be maintained at all times in 
accordance with the approved management plan.

Reason: To ensure the long term maintenance and management of 
public open space and landscaped buffers within the residential estate.

26.The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
recommendations and mitigation measures contained within the 
submitted Tree and Hedgerow Assessment, OP-Hopes Auction Mart-
17/TRE07v1Tree Report 04-12-17 Final Rev4 prepared by Openspace.

Reason: To ensure that existing trees and hedgerows are protected to an 
appropriate standard during the construction phase of the development 

Page 15



in accordance with policy DM17 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014

27.No development shall commence within the site until the applicant has 
secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in 
accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been 
submitted by the applicant and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The written scheme of investigation will include the following 
components.
(a) An archaeological evaluation;
(b) An archaeological recording programme, the scope of which will 
be dependant upon the results of the evaluation.

Reason: To afford reasonable opportunity (prior to the 
excavation/disturbance of the site and any loss/damage to any potential 
important remains) for an examination to be made to determine the 
existence of any remains of archaeological interest within the site and for 
the examination and recording of such remains.

28.Where significant archaeological remains are revealed by the 
programme of archaeological work, these shall be carried out within two 
years of the completion of that programme on site, or within such 
timescale as otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority : 
an archaeological post-excavation assessment and analysis, the 
preparation of a site archive ready for deposition at a store, the 
completion of an archive report, and the preparation and submission of a 
report of the results for publication in a suitable specialist journal.

Reason: To ensure that a permanent and accessible record by the public 
is made of the archaeological remains that have been disturbed by the 
development. 

29.No development shall take place until a detailed acoustic report on the 
existing noise climate at the development site has been submitted to and 
been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report 
shall include a scheme of noise insulation measures for the proposed 
residential accommodation. The noise assessment shall be carried out 
by a suitably qualified acoustic consultant/engineer and shall take into 
account the provisions of National Planning Policy Framework, BS4142: 
2014 ""Method of rating industrial noise affecting mixed residential and 
industrial areas"", BS 8233: 2014 ""Sound Insulation and Noise Insulation 
for Buildings - Code of Practice"" and World Health Organisation 
Guidelines on Community Noise. The approved scheme for each 
dwelling shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the dwelling and 
be permanently maintained thereafter.

Reason:  To safeguard an acceptable standard of amenity for the 
occupiers of the dwellinghouses hereby approved in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Page 16



30.Notwithstanding the submitted plans details of the siting, height and type 
of all means of enclosure/screen walls/other means of enclosure on the 
western boundary adjacent to plots 1, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15,16 and 32 shall 
be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
occupation of any dwelling(s). Any such walls etc. shall be constructed 
prior to the approved dwelling being brought into use. All means of 
enclosure so constructed shall be retained and no part thereof shall be 
removed without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is 
compatible with the character of the conservation area, surrounding area 
and safeguard the amenity of neighbouring properties.

31.Notwithstanding the submitted plans details of the siting, height and type 
of all means of enclosure/screen walls/other means of enclosure on the 
eastern boundary adjacent to Stony Banks, Footpath 259007 and 
northern boundary adjacent to Footpath 259008 shall be submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of 
any dwelling(s). Any such walls etc. shall be constructed prior to the 
approved dwelling being brought into use. All means of enclosure so 
constructed shall be retained and no part thereof shall be removed 
without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is 
compatible with the character of the conservation area and surrounding 
area.

32. Prior to the commencement of development a survey of the private 
utilities crossing the site from properties served off Lowmoor Road, shall 
be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority (including 
mitigation details of any diversions or protection of existing routes/utilities 
and their future maintenance). The development shall be completed, 
maintained and managed in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: In order to protect the existing utilities infrastructure services on 
the site.

33.The section of the existing boundary stone wall adjacent to Laurel 
Terrace to be lowered (as outlined on the approved plan 2017051 SK06 
Rev A – Works to existing stone wall – Amended plan received 12 April 
2018) shall be or taken down or re-built to a height no lower than 1m 
above the level of the highway adjacent to Laurel Terrace, in the same 
materials, coursing and pointing as the existing remaining stone wall to 
provide the visibility splays required by Condition No. 5. The wall shall 
thereafter be retained at all times and shall not be removed or altered 
without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.  

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to safeguard and enhance 
the character and appearance of the development within the 
Conservation Area in compliance with Policies S4, S27 and DM14 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Page 17



434. Planning Application Performance Update 

The Head of Place Development submitted a report which sought to update 
Members on the performance of the Council in relation to the threshold criteria 
set by the Government for monitoring the performance of local planning 
authorities.

The Council’s performance against the threshold was as follows:

Measure 2018 Threshold Assessment 
period

Performance

Speed – major 
applications

60% Oct 2015-Sept 
2017

100%

Quality – major 
development

10% April 2015-Mar 
2017

0%

Speed – non-
major 
development

70% Oct 2015-Sept 
2017

93.6%

Quality – non-
major 
development

10% April 2015-Mar 
2017

0.5%

The Head of Place Development agreed to report quarterly on the Council’s 
performance.

Members asked if performance information could also be provided on 
enforcement action taken by the Council. The Head of Place Development 
agreed to look into this.

Agreed

That:

1. the Head of Place Development provide the Development Panel with 
quarterly reports on the Council’s performance against the threshold 
criteria.

2. the Head of Place Development look into providing performance 
information on enforcement action taken by the Council.

The meeting closed at 4.10 pm

Page 18



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0034

Proposed 
Development:

Application for change of use from B1 light industrial use to D1 
nursery use class and erection of single storey extension.  

Location: The Old Tan Yard
Laurel Terrace
Wigton

Applicant: Mr S Smallwood
BBN Holdings UK Ltd

Recommendation: APPROVE

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Transport and 
Highways

Officers consider there will be an intensification of traffic movement 
to the proposal, however given Cumbria Highways have raised no 
objections in relation to highway safety, the proposal is considered 
acceptable.  

Noise The site is within very close proximity to residential properties. A 
Noise Management Plan has been submitted with the proposal 
and Environmental Health has confirmed that they have no 
objections. On the basis of this advice, the proposal is considered 
acceptable in this regard.  

Contamination A desk top study has been provided as part of the submission, 
both Environmental Health and Environmental Agency have 
confirmed that they raise no objections subject to conditions being 
placed.  

Proposal

Planning consent is sought for the change of use of a former commercial building 
(Joiner’s yard - B1) to a D1 (Children’s Nursery) including erection of single storey 
extension. 

The opening hours proposed are to be 8am to 6pm Monday to Friday.  There are to be 
24 children aged between 6 months and 5 years.  The proposal intends to refurbish the 
internal layout and remove an existing flat roofed building and replace with a larger flat 
roofed extension to the same location.  The materials are to be blockwork with timber 
cladding, grey UPVC windows and flat felt roof.  The replacement extension is to be 
reduced in width and increased in length, with measurements of 5.9m x 11m and to be 
single storey as per the existing structure. 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



Site

The site is a former joiner’s yard on the south eastern perimeter of the town centre.  The 
site comprises of a vacant two storey traditional stone building with an open area on its 
eastern side.  The eastern boundary is bordered by a watercourse and vehicular access 
is served via an existing entrance of Laurel Terrace. Residential development bounds the 
site to the north, south and west. 

Relevant Policies

National Planning Policy Framework

Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
Requiring good design
Promoting healthy communities

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted Juy 2014

Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design
Policy DM15 - Extensions and alterations to existing buildings and properties
Policy DM3 - Protection of Employment Sites
Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S12 - Land and Premises
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S26 - Community and rural services
Policy S27 - Heritage Assets
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S4 - Design principles  
Policy S29 – Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage

Relevant Planning History

None.  
 
Representations

Town Council – The first response received was an objection, councillors were 
concerned about access due to the narrowness of the access road and the potential 
conflicts with pedestrians.  They were also concerned about possible contamination 
issues.  

A further response was received which states in light of the observations from Cumbria 
Highways, Environmental Health and Environment Agency, our previous objection is 
withdrawn.  

Page 20



Environmental Health – The noise management plan has been reviewed and is 
satisfactory.  Recommend adherence to the submitted noise management plan to be a 
conditioned as part of any approval.  A Phase 1 desk top study has been submitted in 
support of the application.  The phase 1 desk top study carried out by Geo Environmental 
is unclear on what development works are to be undertaken on site and therefore offered 
scenario based information dependant on the type of redevelopment.  Further details 
required under planning condition.    

Cumbria Highways – Consider that the proposed nursery will not have a detrimental 
impact on the surrounding road network.  The applicant’s assertions about the traffic 
flows from this development were tested.  The potential impact will be limited.  According 
to TRICS data, this site will generate 6 in and 5 out movements in the AM peak (one 
movement every 6 minutes) and 2 in and 2 out in the PM peak.  This is marginally more 
than the previous B1 use, but considering the location, is considered acceptable.  

It was noticed whilst on a site visit, that the residents of Laurel Terrace use the site as an 
informal turning head / provision. The proposed layout will allow for this to continue. This 
will be beneficial to all users of Laurel terrace. The applicant’s confirmation that this will 
remain available for that purpose is welcomed. In light of the above, the Highways 
Authority confirms no objection to this application. Recommend that conditions are 
included in any consent relating to construction of internal road and parking areas. 

Fire Officer – No comments to date.  

Environment Agency – The Phase 1 Desk Top Study Report provides us with 
confidence that it will be possible to suitably manage the risk posed to controlled waters 
by this development. We agree with the recommendations in section 6.0 that a 
programme of Phase 2 Ground Investigations works will be required to fully characterise 
the ground/groundwater conditions. Given that further detailed information will be 
required before built development is undertaken, we recommend that a planning 
condition is included requiring the submission of a remediation strategy.  

The EA has reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) produced by Portland 
Consulting Engineers (referenced 2018026, dated 21 March 2018) and are satisfied that 
it demonstrates that the proposed development will not be at an unacceptable risk of 
flooding or exacerbate flood risk elsewhere.  

Natural England – No comments to make on this application.  

Conservation Officer – The location of this proposal is such that I don’t consider that it 
could cause harm to the conservation area.  

Cumbria Wildlife Trust – No response to date.  

Public Rights Of Way Officer – Note that public footpath 259008 runs south off the east 
end of Laurel Terrace and must not be obstructed before or after the development has 
been completed. If it is to be temporarily obstructed then a formal temporary closure will 
be required.  

Page 21



Access Officer – Object, subject to the following are incorporated into the scheme. 
Entrance to have level access and one door leaf to give a clear minimum opening width
of 1000mm.  Accessible wc following the guidance in diagrams 18 and 19 of Approved 
Document M volume 2 – buildings other than dwellings 2015 edition.  Access for disabled 
people to be provided to 1st floor level following the guidance in section 3 horizontal and 
vertical circulation in buildings other than dwellings.

Following amendments received, the Access Officer has confirmed that they have no 
further comments to make.    

Children’s Social Services – No response to date.  

A site notice has been placed, press article placed in local newspaper and adjoining 
owners have been notified. Following this, five letters of objection have been received, 
with the main concerns being:-

 Children playing within the play area would be particularly vulnerable to the 
presence of contamination.

 Proctors Square is very narrow and cars travelling in opposite directions cannot 
pass.  In an application such as this traffic movements should only be counted as 
linear movements and not circular.

 The number of vehicle movements to Laurel Terrace would increase the use 
unimaginable and will bring Laurel Terrace to a standstill, each morning, evening 
and possibly lunchtime.  

 Concerns with the figures provided within statements and there consider the 
increase in traffic will cause damage to the local area, local community and 
amenity to residents.

 Not the right site for a nursery.
 Risks to those who use the busy, narrow public road of Laurel Terrace, Proctors 

Square, Proctors Row and Water Street with the addition of the nearby major 
residential development.

 Danger to road users, pupils, local residents, pedestrians, cyclists and motorists.
 Restriction of possible access of an emergency vehicle.
 No justification for making the terrace to a busy, traffic generating business.    

Also five letters of support have been received in which it is stated:-

 The proposal would be a sustainable service by supporting local business. 
 Create more job opportunities to the town.
 Secure location away from busy roads with outdoor space with the knowledge of 

excellent independent care.   
 Positive addition to the town.
 Benefits for the local community and house a community service.      

Main Issues:

Page 22



The application has been submitted as a full application, however members of the 
Development Panel are advised that this proposal (in so far as it relates to the change of 
use only) could be considered under a prior notification application under ‘The Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, Part 3, Class 
T. These regulations permit development consisting of a change of use of a building and 
land within its curtilage from a use falling within B1 to a use as a stated funded school or 
registered nursery, subject to the prior approval of the Local Planning authority of matters 
relating to; transport and highways impacts of the development, noise impacts and 
contamination risks. 

This prior approval route is a material consideration in the determination of the 
application. 

Extension of the existing building

The proposed extension would not physically impact upon the residential amenity of the 
neighbouring properties by way of overbearing impact or loss of light and therefore the 
proposed extension is considered acceptable in terms of scale and design in this respect.  
The proposal site falls within the Wigton Conservation Area. Officers consider that the 
proposal would relate well to the existing building. Given its location to the rear of existing 
buildings, there would be limited views of the new build elements of the scheme from 
public vantage points. As such, and having regard to the requirements of s72 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Policy S27 of the ALP 
Part 1, it is considered that the proposed external alterations to the building would 
preserve the character and appearance of the Wigton Conservation Area.  

Transport and Highways

The plans submitted indicate that the access to the proposal site will be via Laurel 
Terrace which is the only route to the former B1 use.  Laurel Terrace is a relatively 
narrow road with no formal footpath. The ability for two cars to pass can be restricted by 
parking and by the reduced width of the road in part. Laurel Terrace is an existing public 
footpath that provides a pedestrian link to the public baths.  An application has recently 
been approved at Development Panel (subject to the signing of a s106 Agreement) under 
planning reference 2/2017/0587 to the adjoining site ‘Former Auction Mart, 93 High 
Street, Wigton’, in which a new junction arrangement will be constructed to this adjacent 
site from Proctors Square.        

The parking requirement for a proposed D1 nursery would be 1 space per 3 staff plus 1 
visitor space per 3 classrooms, plus space to collect the children.   Therefore the 
requirement for the proposal should be 3 x staff parking and 1 x visitor space and a drop 
off and pick up space.  The application site creates 12 spaces and 1 disabled space with 
8.5 staff members, therefore the plans submitted show an overprovision of parking.  In 
this context the parking provision that has been submitted as part of the scheme, which is 
located to the east of the site, is considered to be sufficient following Cumbria Highways 
Guidelines, the vehicular parking is to be compacted permeable stone and new 
permeable hardstanding with disability parking included.

Page 23



It is acknowledged that Laurel Terrace is a relatively narrow road, with no formal 
footpath. Some existing dwellings open directly onto the road and in addition, the route 
serves as a public footpath. The former use of the existing premises has ceased and the 
current condition of the building suggests no formal use for some time. No evidence is 
available as to the actual traffic generation from this former use, albeit some information 
of likely generation has been provided. It is acknowledged that there will have been some 
associated traffic generation, however, in all likelihood it is considered that the proposal 
would give rise to some intensification over and above this, particularly at drop off and 
pick up times. 

As such, there are some concerns with the intensification of this access route in terms of 
safety. However, Cumbria Highways have considered the safety of this access route and 
have raised no objections to the proposal, (having regard to the adjoining development 
on the former Auction Mart). In light of Cumbria Highways comments and subject to 
conditions being placed as requested, it is considered that the highway safety impacts of 
the development would not be severe and therefore refusal on such grounds would not 
be appropriate. 

Noise

The site is within very close proximity to a number of residential properties, with potential 
from noise and disturbance from those entering or leaving the site with children and from 
the use of external areas during open hours. The play area is to be located to the east of 
the building with trees and hedges all of which are to be retained. The location of the play 
area is within very close proximity to residential properties to the north and the site is 
relatively open to the south, where further residential properties neighbour the site. Given 
the close proximity to the nearby residents a Noise Management Plan has been 
requested by Environmental Health.  This sets out in detail the number of children 
allowed to play outside at any one time (six to eight children in total) and that children will 
be accompanied by a member of staff. It specifies the hours of operation and a noise 
complaint procedure to be dealt with initially by the site manager.  Following the 
submission of the Noise Management Plan, Environmental Health have stated they have 
no objections in relation to the potential noise from the proposal, providing the applicant 
adheres to the terms of the NMP. 

Officers consider that there will be some adverse impacts on the residential amenity of 
nearby residents arising from the noise and disturbance of the use itself (particularly 
children playing externally) and from associated traffic movements. Some occupiers of 
Laurel Terrace have habitable room windows facing directly onto the road and others 
have habitable room windows and external amenity space facing towards the proposed 
nursery, its associated parking areas and outdoor play space. 

However, on the basis that Environmental Health colleagues have raised no objections to 
the proposal on noise and amenity grounds, (subject to the inclusion of a condition that 
requires compliance with the submitted NMP), then Officers do not consider that the 
harm to residential amenity would be sufficient to warrant refusal of the proposal, having 
regard to relevant policies of the ALP Part 1, including policy S32. 

Page 24



Contamination

The previous use of the land being the Old Tan Yard suggests that there are potential 
contamination issues and a number of concerns have been raised by objectors in this 
regard. Therefore as part of the planning application a desk top study has been provided. 
Following submission of the desk top study, Environmental Health have confirmed that 
further site investigation will be necessary, which needs to be informed by detailed 
development plans, landscaping and construction methods.  Environmental Health are 
satisfied that this can be dealt with by condition. The Environment Agency has also 
confirmed that the desk top study provides them with the confidence that it is possible to 
suitably manage the risk posed to controlled waters by this development.  However this is 
subject to conditions being placed also. 

Therefore the desk top study is considered acceptable, providing conditions are placed 
following Environmental Health and Environment Agency’s advice relating to further site 
investigation and remediation.   

Ecological Assessment

Given the age of the building and as it is currently disused, an ecological assessment 
was carried out on the site in January 2018. The assessment concluded low potential for 
bats and that no further action is considered necessary in relation to bats, unless 
construction workers suspect bat species are present.  

As an advisory note to the developer, any clearing of shrubs must be done outside 
nesting season.  

Benefits of scheme

The NPPF and the ALP (Part 1) recognises that employment sites and land must be 
considered without the compromise of the character and function of the surrounding 
area.   

Whilst the proposal is small in scale, it would provide 8 full time employees and 0.5 part 
time employees to meet the need for the business, thereby contributing in a small way to 
the protection of employment to the locality.  The creation of jobs would therefore benefit 
the community in meeting local business and employment needs.

The ALP (Part 1) also promotes sustainable development and aims to support the 
delivery of school facilities and lifelong learning through providing opportunities and the 
provision of up to date facilities.  The proposal will provide a community facility which 
would create a sustainable and valuable educational provision for the town which would 
meet economic benefits.  

Local Financial Considerations

Page 25



Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will have 
financial implications arising from the Business Rates Revenue. 

Balancing and Conclusion

Having considered the proposal against development plan policies in the first instance it 
is considered, on balance, that the benefits of this proposal for employment and as a 
service to the community should be afforded weight and, following the advice of 
consultees, particularly from Cumbria Highways and Environmental Health, the impacts 
can be mitigated and the proposal is acceptable subject to planning conditions as 
recommended.  

Annex 1

Conditions/Reasons

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance 
with the following plans:
D.01 - Site Plan
D.02 - Proposed Floor Plans
D.03 - Proposed Elevations
Site Location Plan
Desk Top Study (Additional Information 11/04/2018)
Additional Movements Statement (Additional Information 08/02/2018)
Noise Management Plan (Additional Information 16/04/2018)
Ecological Assesment
Material information (Additional information received 09/05/2018)

       Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered.

3. The use shall not be commenced until the access, parking and turning 
requirements have been constructed in accordance with the approved plan.  
Any such access, parking and turning provision shall be retained and be 
capable of use when the development is completed and shall not be removed 
or altered without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

4. Prior to the commencement of works details of the surface water drainage      
works, including any attenuation measures shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme 
shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation of the premises hereby 
approved.

Page 26



Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of surface water drainage and minimise 
the risk of flooding from the development in comparison to an assessment of its 
existing undeveloped state, in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework, Policies S29 and S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014.

5. No development approved by this permission shall commence until a revised 
desktop study (preliminary risk assessment) has been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority, which provides full details of the 
proposed site investigation works that have been informed by full 
development plans including landscaping and construction methods. Should 
the preliminary risk assessment identify any potential contamination which 
may affect human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, all 
necessary site investigation works within the site boundary must be carried 
out to establish the degree and nature of the contamination and its potential to 
pollute the environment or cause harm to human health.  The scope of works 
for the site investigations should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority 
prior to their commencement.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not pose a risk of pollution 
to controlled waters.

6. Where land affected by contamination is found which poses unacceptable 
risks to human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, no 
development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
scheme must include an appraisal of remediation options, identification of the 
preferred option(s), the proposed remediation objectives and remediation 
criteria, and a description and programme of the works to be undertaken 
including the verification plan.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not pose a risk of pollution 
to controlled waters.

7. Should a remediation scheme be required, the approved strategy shall be 
implemented and a verification report submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority, prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not pose a risk of pollution 
to controlled waters.

8. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority.  Development on the part of the 
site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out and submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where 
unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
shall be implemented prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use. All work shall be undertaken in 
accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not pose a risk of pollution 

Page 27



to controlled waters

9     The use hereby permitted shall be restricted to the hours of operation between 
08:00 and 18:00 on Mondays to Fridays, and not at all on Saturdays, Sundays 
or Bank Holidays.  

       Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity of neighbouring residents, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

10   The development hereby approved shall be implemented solely in accordance 
with the details within the Noise Management Plan received 16/04/2018.  The 
approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
development.

       Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties of the development hereby approved, in compliance with 
the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Proactive Statement

Application Approved Following Revisions

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by identifying planning policies, constraints, stakeholder representations and 
matters of concern within the application (as originally submitted) and where appropriate 
negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments and solutions to the proposal to 
address those concerns.  As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant 
planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Notes to Applicant:

Copy of Highways letter
Copy of Environment Agency letter dated 10/04/2018.
Copy of PROW letter and plan  

Page 28



Location plan

P
age 29



Location plan showing larger view

P
age 30



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0024

Proposed 
Development:

Demolish existing flat roof extension, sub-divide existing domestic 
accommodation and carry out alterations and change use of 
former club premises to provide self contained apartments.

Location: John Street Club
129 John Street
Workington

Applicant: Mrs  Wilson
Bricks And Mortar Cumbria Ltd

Recommendation: Approve

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Principle The principle of the change of use of this former leisure club (D2) a 
previously developed site, to residential apartments is acceptable 
for this mixed use area close to the town centre of Workington.

Amenity No adverse impact on residential amenity to surrounding  
dwellings from the residential use in terms of noise nuisance or 
overlooking subject to appropriate noise insulation between flats 
and other properties to be secured by planning condition.

Parking No off street parking is provided and there have been 50 letters of 
objection from nearby residents expressing concerns over further 
on street car parking. 

As part of a wider council strategy for parking in Workington, the 
forward plan for Peter Street car park, which is adjacent to the 
proposed apartments, is to make it a long stay pay and display car 
park. This car park is currently free and is mostly used by residents 
in the area or town workers.

The potential residents of the new flats would have the ability to 
purchase parking permits to use in this car park.

Reserved bays are also subject to a charge but residents, 
depending on their car ownership, may not need it. If the resident 
does not renew the reserved bay they would lose it and this would 
then be sold on to somebody else.

Waste disposal Adequate space to provide bin storage in rear yard.

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



Proposal

A proposed change of use of the vacant premises in Workington to residential flats. The 
scheme also involves sub division of the premises, demolition of a flat roof rear extension 
and alterations to the premises. To the rear will be a communal yard for the storage of 
waste bins. There will be 8 number 2 bedroom flats and 2 number 1 bedroom flats. The 
roof will remain as concrete tiles and walls of render. Windows and doors will be upvc. 
Foul sewage and surface water will be disposed of to the mains.
Site

The terraced property is in a mixed use area close to the town centre. It is primarily 
surrounded by residential properties. However, to the rear of the premises is a free car 
park owned by Allerdale BC and adjoining the property is a gym. To the frontage is Peter 
Street and a bus stop. There is an existing residential flat at the site so the uplift in 
residential units through the conversion will be 9 units. This will provide 10 flats in total.
Relevant Policies

National Planning Policy Framework 2014
6. Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes

Allerdale Borough Council (Part 1) adopted July 2014
S1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 Sustainable Development Principles
S3 Spatial Strategy on Growth
S4 Design Principles
S5 Development Principles
S32 Safeguarding Amenity
DM14 Standards of Good Design
DM15 Extensions and Alterations to Existing Buildings and Properties
Relevant Planning History

None
Representations

Workington Town Council - Welcomed the redevelopment of derelict and unused 
buildings in a sensitive residential area. However disappointed that the plan made no 
accounting of the potential increase in parking required on already over parked streets. 
Without any plan for mitigating this, they did not feel they could endorse the proposal. Cllr 
Heaslip observed that he may be perceived to have an interest, as the Portfolio holder for 
the adjacent Borough Council car park, and took no further part in the consideration.

Environmental Health - Noted that the proposed site is adjacent to an existing 
commercial use. In addition the layout of the proposed flats will mean that there will be 
kitchens above bedrooms and the noise transfer from these varying uses could cause 
disturbance. Recommend a condition relating to sound proofing.

Cumbria Highways - No objections to the proposal from a highway point of view subject 
to a highway condition. It is noted when determining this application the council will need 

Page 32



to be mindful of the fact that the site has no on-site parking provision therefore it is likely 
to increase the demand for limited on-street parking due to the high level of terraced 
housing in this area, which is going to be unpopular with existing local residents.

Fire Officer - No representations received to date.

The application has been advertised on site, within the local press and adjoining owners 
have been notified. 50 letters of objection have been received setting out the following 
concerns:

 Overdevelopment of the site as there are too many housing units; 
 Lack of parking on John Street and the surrounding areas and the scheme will 

make the problems worse;
 Lack of space for wheelie bins and black bin bags could attract vermin.

Assessment:

Principle – The site is within the Settlement Limit of Workington and the proposals are 
acceptable as sustainable development with regard to Policies S1, S2, S3 and S5 and 
the strategy for residential growth of the town as a Principal Centre as designated within 
the Local Plan.

The internal alterations to subdivide the premises into 10 apartments are acceptable. 
External materials are acceptable. The demolition of a rear flat roof annex to provide a 
rear yard is acceptable. The rear yard provides some amenity space to provide a rear 
access route to the rear lane and public car park.  The yard also provides an area for bin 
storage and this addresses neighbour concern relating to bin storage for the flats.

It has been advised that 9 bins will be required. 3 x 360litre refuse bins, 3 x 360 litre 
paper bins and 3 x 360 litre recycling bins. There is adequate space within the yard to 
accommodate these bins. The rear door from the yard to the lane will need to be wide 
enough to accommodate the bins.

Parking - No off street car parking is available but it is noted that the former D2/ bar use 
would have a greater car parking requirement than the proposed residential units. 
Furthermore the building is in close proximity to a public car park directly to the east of 
the building. Peter Street – 28 spaces – Currently free and Council owned.

Other Council owned car park provision in the locality is as follows:

 Central – 303 spaces – Pay and Display- Permits available – 4 mins walk from 
Peter Street

 Multi storey car parks – 427 spaces – Pay on Exit – Permits available – 6 mins 
walk from Peter Street

 Elizabeth Street – 15 Spaces – Pay and Display – Permits available – 8 mins walk 
from Peter Street

 Horse Close – 43 Spaces – Free - 14 mins walk from Peter Street

Page 33



Private car park

 Gray Street – 37 spaces – Pay and Display - 5 mins walk from Peter Street

As part of a wider strategy for parking in Workington, the forward plan for Peter Street car 
park is to make it a Long stay pay and display car park. This car park is currently free and 
is mostly used by residents in the area or town workers.

The potential residents of the new flats would have the ability to purchase parking 
permits to use in this car park at a cost of £263 per year, £131.50 for 6 months, £65.75 
for 3 months and £21.95 for 1 month.

If the resident qualifies for a low wage workers permit the cost reduces to £35 for 6 
months and £70 for 12 months.

Reserved parking bays would cost £475 per year however residents in the proposed flats 
may not need parking. If the resident did not renew the reserve bay they would lose it 
and this would then be sold on to somebody else.

Previous planning applications have supported the conversion of former town centre 
leisure facilities to apartments with sub-standard parking provision.
Comparisons can also be made with other developments of new build flats approved in 
the local area. For example application 2/2015/0047 relates to the development of 14 
residential units comprising 8 one bedroom flats and 6 two bedroom flats at Senhouse 
Street in Workington. The Highway Authority was consulted and accepted the revised 
arrangements as a considerable improvement following a reduction of 17 flats to 14 flats. 
The original submission offered no formal allocated parking with an open yard area 
providing flexible parking. The applicant however amended the plans following local and 
Highway Authority objection. Fourteen flats are now provided with fourteen off- road 
parking bays; one allocated to each flat with appropriate turning space. Separate 
accesses in and out facilitate the flow of residents’ vehicles. Initially there was significant 
objection to the lack of formal parking and the reliance on street parking. On balance the 
parking provision as amended was considered acceptable (although sub-standard) with 
no significant impact upon existing levels of street parking.

2/2008/0517 Cumbria Ballroom. 18 flats. 16 parking spaces with 4 street parking spaces 
created removing yellow lines.

2/2013/0392 Duke Street. 13 flats. 9 spaces with existing street parking.

2/2014/0172 Viaduct Hotel. 5 flats/maisonettes. 8 spaces.

Also in 2/2012/0599 in Maryport on Senhouse Street a scheme was approved to provide 
7 apartments. It was acknowledged the building was sited within the Maryport Town 
Centre, therefore there is limited parking available on street. The building however was 
located close to public car parks down on the Harbour side. Officers were therefore 
satisfied that parking could be accommodated within the public car parks and therefore 
the application would not warrant a refusal on this ground. The Highways Authority raised 
no objections to the proposal.

Page 34



The current proposal offers no off street car parking and there is an uplift of 9 flats, (1 
number flat already exists associated with the now vacant D2 use) however a car park 
with 28 spaces is situated directly adjacent to the proposed 10 apartments.
It is also acknowledged that the reuse of the sites existing D2 leisure and assembly land 
use class could generate a significantly higher number of car parking requirements, than 
that of the proposal. In addition any other alternative reuse of the building, especially 
given its scale would also likely generate a level of parking. There are no objections to 
the scheme from Cumbria Highways although it was recognised the lack of on-site 
parking would be unpopular by local residents.

Officers also attach weight to the fact that the site has been vacant for numerous years 
and is in a state of disrepair, which would be further prolonged if not developed. The 
proposal would provide a beneficial contribution to the council’s housing supply at a 
sustainable location on the edge of the town centre. 

In terms of Affordable housing, the number of flats proposed does not exceed the 11 
units trigger to require the need for affordable housing with a 20% requirement. 

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act, Local Financial 
Considerations relate to the New homes Bonus. The council may also incur council tax 
income from the development as well as possible parking permit fee income.
These are considered of little weight in determining the merits of the current application.

Conclusion

The proposed development is considered appropriate in layout, design and appearance. 
No on site car parking is provided and there has been considerable neighbour objections 
to the scheme, and an objection from the Workington Town Council, primarily due to the 
number of units and the lack of on street car parking locally.

Officers note, that the layout of the flats within the building is acceptable and an adequate 
level of amenity is provided. With regard to parking it is noted there are public car parks 
nearby and there is no opportunity within the limited curtilage of the proposal site to 
provide off street car parking.

Considerable weight is given to the vacant nature of the building and the provision of 10 
apartments at this town centre location is considered to be an acceptable use for the 
locality. Furthermore the residential development would safeguard the visual amenity of 
the area. The application is therefore on balance recommended for approval and 
considered to be a sustainable development; recognising that public and private car 
parks are close by and the building is in close proximity to town centre facilities.

Page 35



Annex 1

Conditions/Reasons

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance 
with the following plans:
17.25.GPF 1 - Proposed ground floor plan
17.25.PFF 1 - Proposed first floor plan
17.25.PSF 1 - Proposed second floor
17.25.PR.ELE - Proposed elevations
17.25.BLOCK - Proposed block plan
17.25.SITE - Proposed site plan
17.25.LOC - Location Plan
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered. 

3. New ground floor windows and doors abutting the highway shall be of a 
type which cannot open outwards into the highway. 
Reason: To minimise possible danger to other highway users.

4. Before any part of the development hereby approved is commenced a 
scheme of sound proofing showing measures to deal with sound insulation 
of walls and floors between the separate and adjoining properties shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved scheme shall be implemented to the satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the occupation of any part of the development.
Reason: In the interest of residential amenity in compliance with policy S32 
Allerdale Local plan (Part 1) adopted July 2014.

5. No development shall take place until a Construction and Demolition 
Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The statement shall include the following:
(a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including site and staff traffic, off-site parking, turning and 
compound areas;
(b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of damage 
from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, 
deliveries. All measurements should make reference to BS7445.
(c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, 
and light pollution.
(d) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition;

Page 36



(e) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during 
construction and demolition (including any wheel washing facilities);
(f) Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;
(g) Hours of working and deliveries;
(h) Details of lighting to be used on site.
(i)      Highway signage / Haulage routes 
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
development.
Reason:  In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties during the construction works of the development hereby 
approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy 
S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in the interests of 
highway safety.

6. Prior to occupation of the apartments details of the arrangements for the 
storage and disposal of waste from the premises shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved details 
shall be implemented prior to occupation of the apartments, and thereafter 
maintained at all times in accordance with the approved arrangements for 
the lifetime of the development.
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding residential and visual amenity of other 
properties in the locality from the operational use of the application site, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Proactive Statement

Application Approved Without Amendment

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including 
planning policies and any stakeholder representations that may have been received and 
subsequently determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  

Page 37



Location Plan

P
age 38



Location plan showing larger area

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 40



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0101

Proposed 
Development:

Outline application for the erection of 14 dwellings including 4 
affordable properties and approved of access and layout

Location: Welton County Primary School
Welton
Carlisle

Applicant: Mr & Mrs M Boak

Recommendation: Refuse

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Principle of 
development

The proposal development would see non-essential new dwellings 
located within the open countryside contrary to Policies S3, S5 and 
S9 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and the 
Section 6 of National Planning Policy Framework.

Access and Layout The proposed layout is not considered to respond to the rural 
character, history and distinctiveness of its location contrary to 
Policies S2, S4, S32, S33 and Dm14 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

An appropriate form of access and egress from the site can be 
achieved. 

Affordable Housing The applicant is proposing 4 units will be affordable Low Cost 
Units in line with Policy S8 of the Allerdale Local Plan (part 1), 
Adopted July 2014.

Residential Amenity Officers are satisfied that the proposed development would 
achieve an acceptable form of private amenity space for each 
dwelling and the proximity of the village hall would not unduly 
impact on the amenity of the proposed occupiers.  

Proposal

The applicant seeks outline consent for the erection of 14 dwellings including the 
provision of four affordable properties. Although the application is in the form of outline 
the applicant wishes the details of access and layout to be considered as part of this 
application.

A site layout plan has been submitted with the application that shows the existing access 
point into the site will be utilised with a single internal through road leading to a new 
external egress from the site. The proposed dwellings will be located on both sides of the 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



internal road with each property having 2 off road parking spaces and private amenity 
areas. 

Site

The site is located approximately 8 miles SSW of Carlisle via the B5299 and a similar 
distance north of the Boundary of the Lake District National Park. The site is adjacent to 
a narrow lane, approximately 500m to the SE of Welton Village. It sits on a long rise with 
the River Caldew flowing northwards to the River Eden, about 2km to the east.

This is a gently undulating, rural landscape with small village clusters of 20-30 buildings 
at distances of two to three kms apart, connected by B roads. Within this network is a 
denser network of less direct, narrow lanes which follow field boundaries and 
topographical features such as streams and contours. They connect separate farms and 
houses, some of them quite large, and in this case the former school which has now 
been demolished. The landscape is an open pattern of mostly pastoral fields defined by 
hedgerows and occasional trees, varying in size from about 1.5 to 6 hectares, the greater 
number given over to grazing with some arable. A small amount of land remains as 
patches of woodland and in ribbons along streams and field boundaries. Individual trees 
are also dotted along roadsides and field boundaries.

The application site itself has an area of approx. 0.46 hectares/1.136 acres and the 
application boundary includes some of the grassed verge at the side of the lane. The site 
occupies an area on a slight slope between the higher road level (~129m AOD) to the 
north and the lower fields (~126.5 AOD) to the south.

The site is the former Welton Primary School with playgrounds, car parking and open 
playing space. The site has now been cleared with some weeds growing through and a 
large pile of earthworks remain on site. The school boundary is set back from the lane 
edge with grass verges, concrete bollards and a hard surface in part for 
parking/passing/turning.

The site is located approx. 500m from Welton Village which consists of approx. 30-35 
dwellings and the immediate existing context is the agricultural pattern of fields edged 
with trees, hedges, fences and walls. The site benefits from an attractive group of 
established trees and a hedge near the vehicular entrance at the North West corner. 
There is another large tree further east of the entrance. The road edge has a zone of 
verges, hedges and a wall. On the other side of the lane directly opposite the site sits 
Welton Village Hall. The hall is set back from the road, with a tarmac car park situated 
around the building. Most of the buildings in the area and within the village have some 
form of set back from the roads, and these variations form an important part of the 
character of the area.

The land in the immediate context slopes down from north to south, so the site sits below 
the level of the lane and the village hall sits above. Nearby buildings include the single-
storey timber-constructed village hall on the other side of the lane, the stone built Welton 
Church, a variety of farmsteads, detached houses, and terraced cottages. Many of the 
farmhouses and detached houses are quite large buildings. Common characteristics of 
the surrounding buildings include pitched slate roofs, local stone walls, punched 

Page 42



openings and simple solid forms that have been extended or evolved organically.

Relevant Policies

National Planning Policy Framework
Building a strong, competitive economy
Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes
Requiring good design

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014
Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S4 - Design principles
Policy S5 - Development Principles
Policy S7 - A mixed and balanced housing market
Policy S8 - Affordable Housing
Policy S9 - Rural exceptions sites  
Policy S22 - Transport principles
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S30 - Reuse of Land
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 - Landscape
Policy S35 - Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity
Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design
Policy DM17 - Trees, hedgerows and woodland

Relevant Planning History

2/2013/0343 Demolition of former Welton School and erection of dwelling – Granted. The 
school has been demolished, commencing the development and keeping the permission 
live.

Representations

Councillor Call In – Cllr Markley asked the application to be considered by panel due to 
the need for rural housing in this area.

Sebergham Parish Council – Object on the following grounds:

1. Planning Policy – The proposal contravenes the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) in 
which Welton is not identified as a growth village where development would be 
acceptable. The Parish Council does not consider it appropriate to substitute this 
major development for the extant approval for a single dwelling on this brownfield 
site, which was only approved on exceptional circumstances. 

Page 43



2. Suitability of Location – This proposal would form an isolated development some 
500m outside the village and would not form part of the village envelope.

3. Built Context – The application claims this site is “not an isolated location”, 
contrary to the description given by planning officer for other isolated 
developments nearby (2/2014/0698) and the evidence available on inspection of 
the locality/site visit. 

4. Neighbourhood – The Village Hall is located on the opposite side of the lane 
directly adjacent to the proposed development. It currently has no immediate 
neighbours and this allows functions with bands, parties etc, to take place without 
creating any excessive noise disturbance to others. Councillors are concerned that 
construction of this development would put the families at risk of noise pollution 
which will be unavoidable if the Hall continues to be used for function. 

5. Drainage Strategy – The discharge calculations submitted for the site are 
considered to be flawed because they are based on a belief that the former school 
was occupied by “well in excess of 100 people”. First hand evidence from former 
staff & residents over many decades confirm that the numbers will not have 
exceeded 50 pupils and staff at any time. There is also considerable concern 
about the proposal to discharge increased volumes of waste water into the 
drainage ditch on the road side to flow into the river Caldew, as it is believed this 
could create potential problems for landowners ‘down-stream’ from the site before 
it discharges into the river.

6. Water Supplies – The Design and Access Statement specifies the limited water 
supplies available to the new properties and proposes special arrangements to 
accommodate this. There is already significant limitation in the pressure & flow of 
mains water in this part of the village, and concern exists that providing adequate 
water supplies to the new properties, however limited these may be, could 
seriously affect the already limited supplies to existing properties. 

The Parish Council wishes to place on record its support for the principle of providing 
‘affordable housing’ within the parish and growing the village, but within an acceptable 
environment in accordance with the Allerdale Local Plan and other planning constraints. 
We believe that this application is not the appropriate vehicle to achieve this.

Environmental Health – No objections subject to conditions relating to contamination 
and Construction Method Statement.  

Cumbria Highways / LLFA –  It is noted that the site lies outside the settlement of 
Welton which, given the number of houses shown, creates an undesirable form of 
development in the open countryside, a point your authority will need to consider when 
determining this submission. 

Facilities within walking distance are minimal and there is no bus service provided. The 
lack of facilities and public transport will mean that virtually all journeys to and from the 
development will be car borne. As there is no alternative to the car, it is likely that car 
ownership will be higher than average and therefore the movements to and from the site 
will be significantly higher than the existing site use. 

Page 44



The proposal is therefore contrary to the aims of promoting accessibility contrary to the 
intentions of Government Policy and the NPPF.

If your Authority is however minded to grant permission then we would recommend that 
conditions be attached. 

United Utilities – With regards to the drawing of “Drainage Strategy, ref: A104 dated 
03/01/2018” proposing foul water to be discharged into private treatment plant and 
surface water to be discharged into ditch. United Utilities have no comments to make.

Fire Officer – No reply to date.

Cumbria Wildlife Trust – No reply to date.

Public Rights Of Way Officer – Public footpath 251011 follows an alignment to the east 
of the proposed development and must not be altered or obstructed before or after the 
development has been completed. 

Cumbria Constabulary – The published Design and Access Statement makes reference 
to the design for crime initiative, which suggests that the development has been laid out 
so that dwellings overlook the access road and communal spaces. In the event of this 
proposal being successful and an application for full permission is submitted, the 
applicant should indicate how these measures have been incorporated, thereby 
demonstrating compliance with Policies S4 and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan. 

Housing Services – Given the refusal of four housing associations to purchase rented 
properties on this site, I would be willing to waive the tenure split on this occasion and 
have all the affordable units to be for discounted sale. This means they should be 
available to qualifying households for no more than 55% of their open market value.

Access Officer – No comments in respect of access into dwellings for disabled people.

The application has been advertised on site and in the local paper. Adjoining owners 
have been notified. 4 letters of objection have been received, their concerns relate too:

 Welton is a tiny rural village of some 30-40 dispersed homes and a handful of 
farms. The proposed concentration of 14 houses is an unacceptable increase of 
40% resulting in a harmful impact on the character of the area.

 The proposed density of the development is totally inappropriate for Welton. The 
proposal is an unattractive suburban type of development for such a small farming 
community on a piece of open countryside. 

 In planning policy terms, Welton cannot be deemed either a ‘limited growth’ or an 
‘infill/rounding off’ village. 

 There are no grounds for granting permission to meet local needs such as 
employment.

 Welton has no amenities and no public transport. The proposal would result in a 
major change of traffic levels, increasing noise and air pollution.

 There are no play grounds in the area with the gardens of the proposed dwelling 
small offering very little space for children to play.

 To safeguard this area’s rural environmental quality – planning exceptions cannot 

Page 45



be justified.  
 Street lighting will most likely be needed on this small estate of 14 properties to 

enable personal safety. There is currently very little street lighting in Welton, 
particularly on the outskirts which may result in increased light pollution.

Main Issues:

Principle of Development

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires that Local Planning Authorities 
identify sufficient deliverable sites to provide five year supply of housing against their 
housing requirements. The Annual Monitoring Report for 2017 demonstrates the Local 
Planning Authority has a 5.3 year supply of housing which includes a 20% buffer 
allowance due to a record of under-delivery and shortfalls from 2011. Demonstration of a 
five year supply of deliverable housing sites means the policies for the supply of housing 
contained within the Local Plan are considered to be up-to-date, in accordance with 
paragraph 49 of National Planning Policy Framework. The policy framework for the 
supply of housing within the plan area is set out in Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy. 

Policy S3 establishes that provision will be made for at least 5471 new dwellings in 
Allerdale in the period ending in 2029. This amounts to an annual average of 304 
dwellings. Policy S3 also seeks to concentrate the necessary new development in 
identified towns and villages in a settlement hierarchy. 

The application site lies detached from the built format of Welton in a predominately 
isolated location with sporadic buildings located nearby. The village of Welton does not 
fall within the settlement hierarchy as it is not considered to have significant facilities or 
services to accommodate additional dwellings and in line with Policy S3 officers would 
not wish to see any new dwellings in Welton unless an essential need can be 
demonstrated. In addition to this the proposal site is further detached from the built 
format of Welton in an unsustainable location with minimal facilities within walking 
distance and there is no bus service provided The lack of facilities and public transport 
mean that virtually all journeys to and from the development will be car borne. As there is 
no alternative to the car, it is likely that car ownership will be higher than average and 
therefore the movements to and from the site will be significantly higher than average 
and therefore the movements to and from the site will be significantly higher than the 
existing site use. This contravenes the aim of promoting accessibility contrary to the 
intentions of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

The supporting statement accompanying the application makes reference to the site 
already benefiting for residential development and that they would like the site to be 
considered under Policy S9 Rural Exceptions Site. In taking into consideration the 
previous history on the site it must not be forgotten that the site was granted consent for 
a single dwelling only under Paragraph 55 of the Local Plan due to its exceptional design. 
Policy S3 allows for exception sites within the open countryside and given the high level 
of design and materials proposed on application 2/2013/0343 it was demonstrated that a 
single dwelling of the design proposed would be in compliance with Paragraph 55 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 46



This application seeks to redevelop this former brownfield site for 14 dwellings of which 4 
will be affordable units. The village of Welton that lies approx. 500m northwest of the 
application site and comprises of approx. 30-35 dwellings. The proposed development 
would see an increase of approx. 40-46% of the size of Welton. Given the isolated 
detached location of the proposal site and the facilities available officers do not consider 
this is an appropriate location to accommodate additional dwellings which would impact 
on the landscape nature at this current rural location given the high density of the site..
 
Policy S9 provides an exception to the spatial strategy and provides the opportunity for 
the delivery of small numbers of rural housing on land outside, but adjoining the 
development limits of Local Services Centres and Limited Growth Villages, or adjacent to 
the existing built area of infill/Rounding Off Villages, that may not fulfil all the criteria set 
out in policy S5. 

Policy S9 states that “The Council will support rural affordable housing exception sites in 
Local Services and Rural Villages, provided that: 

a) The development will meet or assist in meeting an identified evidence based need for 
affordable housing in the area, which would not be otherwise met; 
b) The site is well-related and sympathetic to the form and character of the settlement, 
demonstrates good design and allows accessibility to community services and facilities 
within it; 
c) The scale is in keeping with the settlement’s setting and its role in the hierarchy; 
d) The site is considered to be the most suitable to meet the identified need; 
e) The applicant enters into an appropriate legal agreement that ensures the 
accommodation will meet the need for local affordable housing in perpetuity.” 

The proposal site is detached from the village of Welton which does not support rounding 
off sites due to its detached location and lack of facilities and public transport. No 
evidence has been submitted with the application that demonstrates the development 
would meet an identified evidence based need for affordable housing in the area. In 
assessing the proposal against Policy S9 officers consider the site is not well related and 
sympathetic to the form and character of the settlement, the scale of dwellings would be 
excessive to the size of the village which is not included within the spatial hierarchy.

With all this in mind it is considered that the proposed development would conflict with 
Policies S3, S5 and S9 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) and the Section 6 of National 
Planning Policy Framework, resulting in non-essential development in the open 
countryside.

Access and Layout 

Although the application is in the form of outline the applicant is asking for us to consider 
access and layout as part of the current application. The submitted layout plan illustrates 
that the development will be in the form of a single loop road with dwellings located either 
side of the internal access road. Each property will have an appropriate level of private 
amenity garden and two off road parking spaces with 4 visitor spaces provided in the 
development near to the entrance to the site. The development will see the two existing 
access points that were used in association with the former school re-used to provide a 
single access point to the northwest of the site and an egress point to the northeast. 

Page 47



These two access points are recessed from the main highway therefore the existing 
hedges will not interfere with visibility when leaving the site. 

Although Cumbria Highways have raised concerns with regards to the location of the site 
outside the settlement of Welton, which given the number of houses shown, creates an 
undesirable form of development in the open countryside resulting in a high dependency 
on private car journeys they do not object to the proposed access points and internal 
road layout and have recommended conditions be attached. (there is no footpath link to 
the village)

In turning to the overall layout of the site and the context of its location, the site is located 
in a rural location with single dwellings and farmsteads sporadically located nearby, with 
the hamlet of Welton located of the roads that run through the village. 

A key objective of the Local Plan is to achieve high quality design for all development. 
Good design relates not only to the appearance of a development but to how it functions 
within its location and to how it contributes towards a sustainable community. 

The proposed layout with all dwellings accessed from an internal loop road is more 
reflective of an urban development found on a housing estate with little frontage to the 
main road. Buildings in this area are typically located adjacent to the road or located 
along an access track. The proposed development with a maximum depth of 64m which 
will see a line of 4 dwellings does not respond positively to the rural character, history 
and distinctiveness of its location or integrate well with existing development in and 
around Welton. 

Officers consider the proposal is contrary to Policies S2, S4, S32, S33 and DM14 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

Affordable Housing

The delivery of affordable housing is a key objective of the local plan and priority of the 
council plan. The majority of affordable housing that is built in the plan area is delivered 
as part of new development. Therefore, planning policy has a central role in helping to 
deliver low cost homes. 

The Planning Practice Guidance requires all development over 10 units, to provide 
affordable housing. Policy S8 Affordable Housing of the Allerdale Local Plan requires the 
percentage of affordable units to be 25% with the tenure split should 75% Social Rent 
and 25% Intermediate Housing. The applicant has submitted a Heads of Terms with the 
application that details 4 of the proposed dwellings will be affordable units in the form of 
Low Cost Units. Whilst Housing Services initially objected to this as it did not meet Policy 
S8 the applicant has subsequently provided written confirmation from 4 Housing 
Associations who have refused to purchase the rented properties on the site and 
therefore on this occasion Housing Services are willing to waive the tenure split and have 
all the affordable units to be for discounted sale. 

The level and type of affordable units proposed for this development is considered 
acceptable and in line with Policy S8 of the Allerdale Local Plan. The affordable units can 
be secured in the form of a S106 should the development by approved.  

Page 48



Residential Amenity

The application site is located in an isolated location with no residential properties 
immediately close to the application site. However, the village hall lies on slightly raised 
land directly opposite the proposal site. The parish council have raised concerns that the 
current village hall occasionally allows functions with bands, parties etc, to take place 
without creating any excessive noise disturbance to others. Councillors are concerned 
that construction of this development would put the families of the proposed dwellings at 
risk of noise pollution which will be unavoidable if the Hall continues to be used for 
function.

Given the constructional composition of the village hall Environmental Health Officers 
were requested to provide further comments on this matter. They do not consider that the 
potential noise from the village hall would result in a substantial noise impact on the 
proposed dwellings to warrant a refusal. The design of the dwelling and the position of 
the openings can be considered in full as part of any reserved matters application.   

Other Issues:

Drainage 

Caldew Beck runs 500m north and 400m to the southeast of the site and the River 
Caldew is just over 1km east of the site. Welton is remote from the public sewerage 
network and for this reason the School relied on a septic tank which is now at the end of 
life. The septic tank along with rain water discharged into agricultural land drains, which 
then discharged unto a tributary of Caldew Beck. A new septic tank will be installed. 

To avoid capacity issues, an alternative route to the same watercourse is proposed, there 
is an open agricultural ditch in front of the site which will be utilised, to avoid the need to 
use agricultural land drains serving land not within the boundary of the former school.

It is proposed that the roadside ditch will be used as the receptor of the water from the 
new dwellings which is contiguous with the site boundary, it therefore follows that the site 
can utilise the common law rights to connect to the ditch, regardless of who owns the 
ditch downstream of the site. This form of drainage is in line with that approved under 
application 2/2013/0343. The effluent from both the foul and surface water drainage will 
now be treated where previously it was not which is an improvement on the watercourse.

The proposed disposal arrangements for the surface water is to into the roadside ditch 
which is not supported with any details and calculations, a full assessment will be 
required for the whole length of the ditch from the site to the outfall into the watercourse. 
Furthermore, given the applicants supporting information identifies the site as unsuitable 
for soakaways then the use of porous paving will need to be revised for its suitability. 

United Utilities have considered the drainage strategy and have no comments to offer.     
 
Officers consider an appropriate form of foul and surface water drainage could be 
achieved for the site, however given that full details have not been provided on the 
suitability of porous paving and an assessment of the drainage ditch a condition should 

Page 49



be attached requiring this information to be provided. 

Ecology/Trees

An Ecological Assessment Update has been carried out and submitted with the 
application. The Survey included the entire site, and any trees and scrub along the 
perimeter.  The report concludes that there is no ecological reason to withhold planning 
permission at this site. However, the new entrance in hedgerow 1 needs to be reviewed 
and the Local Authority notified if a section of this needs to be removed.

The site falls within a SSSI Impact zone, but assessment of the site, proposed 
development and proximity to connected habitat features leads us to the conclusion that 
there is very little risk and no action is suggested beyond usual installation of drainage of 
such a development using storm drains.

Attention must be paid to the timing of works: activities that may cause disturbance to 
nesting birds must be done outside the bird nesting season and so planned for between 
September and March. If works of this nature fall inside the bird nesting season 
March/April-August, then an ecologist must be consulted to confirm that no nesting birds 
will be disturbed or harmed.

There is some low risk that individual animals may be present whilst works are ongoing. 
Adherence to the above general protection measures will ensure the works will have low 
to nil impact on any wildlife using the site.

All European protected species, species of conservation concern and breeding birds 
should be considered at all times during construction. If individual animals appear within 
the construction phase further guidance to protect from harm and disturbance should be 
sought by contacting an approved ecologist.

Officers do not object to a minor section of hedge 1 to be cleared to allow the additional 
access point to be created into the site.

Officers are satisfied that the applicant has fully assessed the impact on protected 
species and the hedge/trees on site and the proposal is compliant with Policies S35 and 
DM17 of the Allerdale Local Plan.

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal would 
benefit from New Homes Bonus and future Council Tax Revenue.

Conclusion

Officers consider the principle of the proposal for 14 dwellings in this rural open 
countryside location detached from the village of Welton with no access to public facilities 
or transport would result in non-essential development contrary to Policy S3, S5 and S9 
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

Page 50



Furthermore, the proposed layout is considered to not reflect the rural context of the 
landscape in which it sits been more reflective of an urban layout therefore failing to 
respond positively to the rural character, history and distinctiveness of its location or 
integrate well with existing development in and around Welton contrary to Policy S2, S4, 
S32, S33 and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan.
 

Page 51



Annex 1

Conditions/Reasons

1. The Local Planning Authority considers the proposed dwellings would 
constitutes an inappropriate non-essential form of residential development 
in the open countryside and would therefore be contrary to the provisions of 
Policy S3 and S5 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted July 2014 and 
paragraph 17 the principles and paragraph 55 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

2. The Local Planning Authority considers the scale and layout of the 
development site does not respond positively to the character, history and 
distinctiveness of the rural landscape in which it lies. The proposal is 
considered contrary to Policy S2, S4, S32, S33 and DM14 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and National Planning Policy 
Framework (Paragraph 58 and 64). 

Proactive Statement

Application Refused Following Discussion – Where there is no Way Forward

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by identifying planning policies, constraints, stakeholder representations and 
matters of concern with the proposal and discussing those with the Applicant.  However, 
the issues are so fundamental to the proposal that it has not been possible to negotiate a 
satisfactory way forward and due to the harm which has been clearly identified within the 
reason(s) for the refusal, approval has not been possible.

Page 52



Location plan

P
age 53



Location plan showing larger vie

P
age 54


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 2/2018/0034 - The Old Tan Yard, Laurel Terrace, Wigton - Application for change of use from B1 light industrial use to D1 nursery use class and erection of single storey extension
	6 2/2018/0024 - 129, John Street, Workington - Demolish existing flat roof extension, sub-divide existing domestic accommodation and carry out alterations and change use of former club premises to provide self contained apartments
	7 2/2018/0101 - Welton Primary School, Welton, Carlisle - Outline application for the erection of 14 dwellings including 4 affordable properties and approved of access and layout

